
IN THE MATTER of the Queensland Racing Commission of Inquiry 
before the Honourable Justice Margaret White AO 
pursuant to the Commissions of Inquiry Order (No.1) 2013 

AFFIDAVIT OF KEVIN WILL SEYMOUR 

KEVIN WILL SEYMOUR of , company director, in the State of 

Queensland states on oath: 

1. I have been involved in the harness racing industry in Queensland for over 45 years, 

and been involved generally in Australia, as a: 

(a) major sponsor, including: 

(i) several Inter Dominion Harness Racing Championships in New South 

Wales, Victoria and Queensland; 

(ii) the annual Seymour Nursery Pace; 

(iii) races in almost every state of Australia, including the Globe Derby in South 

Australia, the richest country race in harness racing in Australia; 

(b) owner for 40 years, racing horses in every state in Australia; 

(c) promoter; and 

(d) official- including as a: 

(i) Chairman for 5 years (over two terms), and as the Deputy Chairman, and 

otherwise as a member of the Committee, and most recently as Patron, of 

the Albion Park Harness Racing Club (APHRC); 

(ii) Board Member of both the Queensland Harness Racing Board (QHRB) for 

two terms as Deputy Chairman (5 years in total); 
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(iii) director of Queensland Harness Racing Limited (ACN 128 036 000) 

(QHRL) since 17 October 2007 (including during its period as the control 

body for harness racing in Queensland from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2010); 

(iv) a trustee of the Albion Park Trust for two years; 

(v) President of the Standardbred Owners Association of Queensland for 1 0 

years; 

(vi) served on the Australian Harness Racing Board for 3 years; and 

(vii) the Inaugural Chairman, founder and financier of Australian Pacing Gold 

for 6 years; and 

(e) a major benefactor. 

Comments in accordance with the Requirement to Provide a Statement 

2. I have received a Requirement to Provide Written Statement to the Queensland Racing 

Commission of Inquiry dated 17 July 2013 (Notice). 

Contract Management and Financial Accountability 

3. As to section 1 of the Schedule to the Notice: 

(a) in respect of the procurement, contract management and financial accountability 

of the Relevant Entities: 

(i) my knowledge is limited to QHRB and QHRL; 

(ii) while I expect that there were: 

(A) policies; 

(B) processes; 

(C) guidelines; and 

Page 2 



(D) measures used to ensure contracts which were awarded delivered 

value for money, 

I cannot: 

(E) recall those policies, processes, guidelines and measures; nor 

(F) say whether such policies, processes, guidelines and measures, 

were adhered to by QHRB and QHRL during the Relevant Period; 

(b) having said that, I have no recollection of it having been brought to the Board's 

attention or to my attention separately that there had been any particular breach 

of a policy, process, guideline or measure of that kind, and as such I believe that 

any such policies, processes, guidelines and measures were adhered to; 

(c) as a general proposition, my recollection is that competitive tenders were used 

by QHRB and QHRL wherever appropriate (e.g. where the amount of the 

contract was sufficient to warrant a competitive tender process) and that normal 

conflict of interest practices applied so as to require a conflict of interest to be 

declared if one existed; 

(d) the only contract that I can think of which might have given rise to a question of a 

conflict of interest related to the demolition of the grandstand at Albion Park, 

which was awarded to Watpac, a company of which I was a significant 

shareholder at the time, however: 

(i) that contract was awarded by the Albion Park Trust (ie not QHRB or 

QHRL); 

(ii) I had no involvement in the award of that contract; and 

(iii) as such no conflict of interest ever arose; 

(e) to the best of my knowledge neither QHRB nor QHRL ever had any involvement 

with Contour Consulting Engineers Pty Ltd; 
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(f) I have no direct knowledge of any other Relevant Entity's involvement with 

Contour Consulting Engineers Pty Ltd. 

Management 

4. As to section 2 of the Schedule: 

(a) my knowledge is limited to QHRB and QHRL; 

(b) while I expect that there were: 

(i) management policies; 

(ii) management processes; 

(iii) management guidelines; 

(iv) workplace culture and practices; 

I cannot: 

(v) recall such management policies, management processes, management 

guidelines or workplace culture and practices; nor 

(vi) say whether such management policies, management processes, 

management guidelines or workplace culture and practices ensured 

integrity and were adhered to; 

(c) having said that, I expect that: 

(i) there were such policies, processes, guidelines and practices; 

(ii) the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of QHRB and QHRL (whoever that was 

from time to time) was responsible for such policies, processes, guidelines 

and practices; and 

(iii) they were adhered to, and that they ensured integrity, because I cannot 

think of any instance which makes me think that that is not the case; 

Page4 

Taken by:_.----___ """' ______ _ 
(Justice of the Peace/Solicitor) 



(d) in relation to section 2.2 of the Schedule: 

(i) my direct knowledge is limited to my involvement on the Boards of QHRB 

and QHRL; 

(ii) in my view there was what I would call the 'usual' separation of functions 

between a Board and the business in that: 

(A) there was what I believe was the normal delegation of functions to 

management; 

(B) responsibility for key decision making came back to the Board; 

(iii) I expect that Mike Godber, the former CEO of QHRL, would be best placed 

to comment on this issue; 

(iv) it always appeared to me that: 

(A) there was an orthodox and proper separation of responsibilities; and 

(B) the Board did not seek to 'run' all, or even most, of the day to day 

responsibilities of QHRB and QHRL; and 

(C) the company secretary for QHRL, and before that the secretary to the 

Board of QHRB, took minutes at Board meetings which were 

checked by the Chairman and then tabled for approval at the next 

meeting as is normal corporate I Board practice. 

Corporate Governance 

5. As to section 3: 

(a) I do not have any direct knowledge of: 

(i) the corporate governance arrangements of Racing Queensland Limited 

(Racing Queensland) in the Relevant Period; or 
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(ii) whether Racing Queensland and its officers operated and acted on a day 

to day basis in the manner set out in section 3.2 of the Schedule; 

(b) I do not however believe that Racing Queensland and Mr Bentley acted in the 

manner described in sections 3.2(a), (d), (f) of the Schedule insofar as they acted 

in the manner described in the pleadings in Supreme Court of Queensland 

Proceedings 13832 of 2010, Queensland Harness Racing Limited & ors v Racing 

Queensland Limited & Bentley (the Albion Park litigation); 

(c) my knowledge of matters in relation to the Albion Park litigation is described in 

the following documents, copies of which are exhibited to this Affidavit: 

(i) exhibit KWS-1 is the Affidavit of Andrew Harris sworn 20 February 2011 

wherein he swore certain matters on information and belief from me at 

paragraphs 23, 24 and 26; 

(ii) exhibit KWS-2 is a Summary of Evidence filed on behalf of the Plaintiffs 

dated 19 July 2011 in which my evidence was accurately summarised at 

paragraph 2; and 

(iii) exhibit KWS-3 is a further Summary of Evidence filed on behalf of the 

Plaintiffs dated 22 November 2011 my evidence was accurately 

summarised at paragraphs 7 to 17 inclusive; 

(d) I have no knowledge of whether there were in place any of the items described in 

sections 3.3 and 3.4 of the Schedule. 

Oversight by the Minister, the Executive Government, the Chief Executive 

6. As to section 4 of the Schedule: 

(a) my direct knowledge is limited to QHRB and QHRL; 

(b) as a general rule, neither I nor the Board of QHRB or QHRL were subject to any 

specific oversight or regular involvement by or with the responsible Minister, the 

Executive Government or the Chief Executive during the Relevant Period; 
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(c) any dealings with the responsible Minister, the Executive Government or the 

Chief Executive were by the Chair (Bob Lotte) or the CEO (primarily, through the 

Relevant Period, Mike Godber); 

(d) any relevant correspondence with the responsible Minister, the Executive 

Government or the Chief Executive was tabled at a subsequent Board meeting; 

(e) the only correspondence with the Minister or the Executive Government that I 

recall having particular knowledge of prior to it being sent, or at about the time it 

was received, is correspondence in relation to the proposed amalgamation of the 

3 codes of racing in the period December 2009 to February 201 0; 

(f) I otherwise had no insight into the oversight of operations of Racing Queensland 

in the Relevant Period and, generally speaking, I cannot comment on it; 

(g) I would however say that it was particularly concerning that, in relation to the 

Racing Queensland decision to sell Albion Park, and to seek to walk away from 

the Intercede Agreement, to be told that the Queensland Government's position 

was that Racing Queensland was "beyond the Government's control" and that 

the Government sought to 'wash its hands' in relation to the matter; 

(h) as I understood it, the Racing Act was not so clear as to put Racing Queensland 

beyond the control of the Minister, but even if that was the case, it seemed 

extraordinary that (and it would be very poor oversight if) the Government: 

(i) had created a position under the Racing Act whereby such a valuable 

industry and bundle of assets had been put into the hands of a company 

which could, on the Government's view, do whatever it wanted with those 

assets; 

(ii) was saying there was nothing it could do about assets that had been 

provided to Racing Queensland when those assets were, to varying 

degrees: 

(A) to all intents and purposes, public assets; 

Page 7 

Taken by: ____________________ __ 
(Justioe of the Pease/Solicitor) 



(B) assets which had been developed or improved with public money 

over the years; and 

(C) the subject of direct funding input as well as volunteer effort from the 

industry itself (eg Clubs). 

Employment Contracts: Tuttle, Orchard, Brennan, Reid 

7. As to section 5 of the Schedule, although I have seen numerous media reports in 

relation to the matters described in this section, I had no involvement in them. 

Queensland Race Product Co Limited and Tatts Group 

8. As to section 6 of the Schedule: 

(a) in relation to Tatts Group Limited (Tatts Group), I became a director of UNiTAB 

in 1996 and was a director of that company until October 2006 and since then 

have been a director of Tatts Group; 

(b) to the best of my knowledge and recollection, fees payable to Racing 

Queensland or any Queensland Racing entity that is described in the Schedule, 

including race field information fees, have never been discussed in any Tatts 

Group Board meeting nor any other Tatts Group meeting or documents; 

(c) I recall that QHRB and QHRL were represented on the Board of Queensland 

Race Product Co (Product Co) by the Chair (Bob Lette) (and I think at times by 

the CEO, Mike Godber), and I think they would be best placed to comment on 

section 6; 

(d) my recollection is that the activities of Product Co were subject to secrecy 

provisions which resulted in them never being discussed even in QHRB or QHRL 

Board meetings; 
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(e) as I recall it: 

(i) QHRL received a percentage from corporate bookmakers in respect of 

race information fees under an agreement with corporate bookmakers; 

(ii) the QHRL agreement was that they would pay fees based on 1.5% of 

turnover on Queensland harness races; 

(iii) Racing Queensland subsequently entered into an arrangement which was 

based on 10% of gross profit of those corporate book makers on 

Queensland racing product; 

(iv) it was always my view that the position that QHRL had adopted was a far 

better approach because the approach adopted by Racing Queensland 

allowed the corporate bookmaker to manipulate its results (albeit 

legitimately) to underplay the gross profit and thereby minimise the amount 

payable by way of race information fees; 

(f) other than believing that Product Co responded to the introduction of race 

information fees by imposing the 1 0% gross profit approach (through the 'Race 

Fields legislation'), I have no specific knowledge as to what happened in relation 

to race information fees because this occurred after the 3 code amalgamation 

and is beyond my knowledge; 

(g) I have no knowledge of any action taken or not taken as a consequence of the 

legal or other expert advice because I have no knowledge or such legal or other 

expert advice (see paragraph 9(f) above); 

(h) to the best of my recollection, during the time of QHRL the Chair and/or CEO 

were involved in Product Co, he/they: 

(i) acted in the manner described in paragraphs 6.5(a) to (d) of the Schedule; 

(ii) did not act in the manner described in paragraph 6.5(e) of the Schedule; 
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(i) I have no direct knowledge of the way in which directors of the other Relevant 

Entities acted, save to say that I would not agree that it was in the best interest of 

Racing Queensland Limited or the racing industry for the directors or senior 

executives of that company to recommend the gross turnover approach in 

respect of race field information fees (for the reasons set out at paragraph 

8(c)(iv) above); 

U) I have no direct knowledge of any of the matters described in section 6.6 of the 

Schedule. 

Funds Transfer in February 2012: Queensland Government to Racing Queensland 
Limited Infrastructure Trust Account 

9. As to section 7 of the Schedule, I have no direct knowledge of any of the matters 

described in paragraphs 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3 of the Schedule. 

Any Other Relevant Matter 

10. As to section 8 of the Schedule, in relation to the Albion Park litigation I would say that: 

(a) I, and I believe the majority of the harness racing industry, was angered by 

Racing Queensland's decision to sell Albion Park contrary to the commitments 

that had been given prior to QHRL agreeing to participate in the amalgamation of 

the 3 codes of racing; 

(b) for my part I did all that I could to prevent that happening and, to the extent that I 

could, I wrote to, and sought to have (and had) meetings with, the Premier of 

Queensland and the Minister for Racing (attended by various government 

officers); 

(c) the primary intent of that correspondence and those meetings was to seek to 

bring an end to the Albion Park litigation, and to thereby save the industry 

substantial legal costs, by having Racing Queensland abide the commitments 

given prior to QHRL agreeing to the amalgamation; 
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(d) as those efforts were unsuccessful, it was necessary for QHRL and the relevant 

Clubs to pursue the litigation against Racing Queensland and Mr Bentley 

throughout the Relevant Period. 

SWORN by KEVIN WILL SEYMOUR on 16 August 2013 at BRISBANE in the presence of: 

A Justice of the Peace/Solicitor 
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IN THE MATTER of the Queensland Racing Commission of Inquiry 
before the Honourable Justice Margaret White AO 
pursuant to the Commissions of Inquiry Order (No.1) 2013 

CERTIFICATE OF EXHIBITS 

Exhibits to the affidavit of KEVIN WILL SEYMOUR sworn 16 August 2013. 

"KWS-1" Affidavit of Andrew Robert Harris sworn 20.02.11 20.02.11 
in Supreme Court Matter 13832 of 2010 

"KWS-2" Plaintiffs' Summary of Evidence in Supreme Court 19.07.11 
Matter 13832 of 2010 

"KWS -3" Plaintiffs' Summary of Evidence in Chief in 22.11.11 
Supreme Court Matter 13832 of 2010 

1 -18 

19-24 

25-52 
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Febrliar:Y; 

for flf~s n6.t qregt~d .ptf9.r4o 99mm~rn::~m~nt Qfth~prooe~ding, the flies 
appeared to !laVe b'een Greated ;Otl the fc))l()WIOQ <JJ3t(:)s: 

(i) 6 January 2011; 

(i.l). :7 Janu · 2011 • .. _ .liU)' __ 1 

<d) some ?f, l,h~ :m9~tr:~1~y~pt f.i!~~,{tprf?X~,tppJ~ Jh,,~,~.~UiJ.~~Jqr Mr{?9dber 
<mo hi$ ;fqrmer Exepl,l_(ive A~~~~t~n~. Ms. F~n\'Jiq~) had be~n ·qre.ate·d on 
'1h1n~ 'Y ,_j~nu~tt20.11. 

11. The ~X Pflv~ ~t'sb :oonf~itJ'ed pstflle$ {I~ ~rlncjp~lly ero~if~) 'hOWever, $1Veh the 
fact that the Ex !Drive. Was;hQt tYtade availaole :foticollectloil !Ut'ltil ;aftet' 5:00pm 
on Friday 11 February 2011, 1 coUl<l nOt review any of those files on the 

weekend of 12 and 13 Fi;ibru~;~ry ~011 as I nee9ed @~ assls.hmce of Ol.lf 

practice's axtemal servioe provider; 

Signed: ..• ~~~;, 
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12. ·. . Arrcingern~ntp W~rf? rijgd~ Jqr1ihEfp$tj(IEJll to 'p~ ·~n:JIQ.?~S!Q '!'lf'!lQ '()Ut\$.$.rv~r for 

rWl~_vi":olf M.9@~y '14\I:;WrJi.~.ry·i~Qi i;· :hP.W~v~r th~'.$lt!:i t1t<~h~'~11~·~ M~ 
coYrl!~ilon of vafipus JJI(3~s .me~nt thqt ~that ;l'~too~ss was .Mt comp.l~tM :uhtO 
Tu~sttaY 15 ·February 2011,·. ·I·am :Informed by 1Ms·Megat1 £~tJian<b ·our 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~(\&~~~:~~? ,~~d· b~n~~~.ih~t ~h; ;;;~j~W~~\ht~st tHO 

(~) 
.·. ·,: .. 

(i) Ms Marl~v~~kson;··· 

:(ii) Ms TrM~Y: f-:J~·rrls i(th$ ·iorm~r 6hiEi Fin~noi~i ·Officer arid 
oom~aryy Secretary for the Plaintiff); 

:(Iii) Mt'Godbet; ;ana···· 

(iv) Ms Fenwioki and 

1~. It WE.lS qppwent \hen .and my further rEJVlEJW $.lnG~ h~rs Qpnflrmr;!ct t~~t. de~ pit~ 
the rn~(~er~ rS:ferr~ct:lo'ln subp~ragrap.h '3{p)-.ofthls tifffdavU, the.overwhelmln9 
majorUy of the tiles .on tM Ex Drive ara.litiUn ,ahy W~ly.releVanttothe subJect 
matter onhe proceeding. By'\~i:t'y of~xafupJe; 'tfl~'ii>i'orlv~ cont~·inst 

(a)· ac~6tin~lng\~rnpl~t~?.pr~vip0$Jy us~9 I>Y~!b~-Pl~Mtkt 

(f)) mu~lo ~nd in(~rnE:Jllf9V9uritef:>' s~ved ted he •serv(:)r by ·th~ ;former Chief 

~~~'(JLJJIIJ~ Pffi9~r;¢fJh§ Albit?n :~!i!rkH~m~:s,~.R.c;~9lo~ OlHb,; 

(d) p,hqtp~r~·phsfrorn:the '2cfo9Jnter Dominion fashion pa!'$de; f;thd 

(d) 'Foot(fips', 
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, .. 
\ 

14. NoMllhst~bdJn~ ·the 'Pf~thor~ ·qt 'irr~ley®.i :dool,ltneh.i!? PJJ>Yi<l~.ct ~n the ~>< 
Ptive, we have .so tal" identified ttP9Mhi~ht$.·Whioh atEi XJieariY r!;}levant and hot 
referred to In: 

16. 

17. 

.·.:-;.'·.::':·: .. , .... , ·.:.• ... 

the [).~fence; nor 

.:·;,: ,_,,-_,. 

In tE)rn1s of hard copy documants of "fne ·Pialiitfff which W.i2.f(:3 ~not ·made 
avalll:lble by the deteiidarlts until 11 February 2011'+bot\ijli16h ::~rb clltiihtly 

·:~~~~~:~1!~1~~r~i;t~~~k~~1~i:~~~~~;~ar~~;::~ · 
:;>lnce recelvin· the · .aie'f;·Tieferit3ei'1·.:Jfi:· ·y··y··'h· ·,5 6· v::a··cr9•·-···J this . g . m . . a. .. . .. . .. . . o ... p~UlQ -~P. s , _, . . ll .. o . . 
~ffidaiJI.t 1 ,haVe ·$poken with Mr xao.tthar ~boUt :dooume.hts .~cre.atea ana 'i :.\;'::''.:::·:_··_ :::··:.·. :.~~·.:·:.- -·;': · .. :~.:~..;·;:1<':.:._: ~--~;·:.(~':\~._::::,·: .·,; , .. ;,: . '. ··. '·'. :' ·, ' .. 

maitita.ln~d f?Y-lh~.IP.I?Jiitiff Jnsq'f!=lr;a~ ·Cloc_urii~?nts l.;l'otJ.Ic! be·~lil<ely to bf) .c~lrectly 
;~J.;v~DftQ.'~·.n;;~~t~tn.(~~~~~ 'hJH~~J~r?Q~~~l~~~, , , · ·· ·· · · -~-., · 

1a. s~~s:~·~ <>ti ,mt·'(li~pu~$ion~'with.~Mr ;Gd~~~w• l· b~lr~vt;l· th~l 'llle::l ~~f ·the ·type 
relerracHo ;Jn ip~1·a~raph 'W'ot li1rs··~,'lfflclavff.'W@r~ 'tn~iot~!nE!d'by.!ih~ :Plal9llff prior 
to ao June 201 o and contained documents directly: ·relevant to' ln~iters In 

IssUe iii the P.f?,~~edln.~Jn}~~J fil~s ofW?,1YPefef~tre~ ,to ht-

(a) 'subparq~r~ph§ ''9nmo 'fJM '(llf£coritfllh.~~ gqrr~~Poh.~~pce ail,g· othE!r 
do<?~m1f?n'ts:··air~d.oy··Te.ievMt' t9 at ''te~~t ··tn~ ·tn~ttt?.r§· Rle~~~d rn 
p-aragr~ph§~. 4,' p{~;·t ~i. 10; ·1~; ·14, '11.), ~19, :20, '21,:22.!'2$, 24, 26, 
21 \28 - ~;j 31 of.'th ·Am< e j.je-;.j ;sr t·· .... ·e lof·· ·or·· ,tv{,_ ·· tl . l . a ........ e .. n\.1 .. \.1 .aem n au.,a.n. 

(b) slibparagrf!phs .P(Q)(II!) ,~u'td (lv) !Oohtaineo •corre~ptmdenbe ,and othei· 
docU1nents ·such as draWings and plahs directly releVant to at least the 

Sign~d: •. : .• ~~~-
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Hi~M~~ pl~.?M'8lri'p~f?9taphs 7, 9t15;'~9.·;~o. 22;i24;'27 ano·-~a· of' 
the Atli~ha~d st~t~riient M dl~idi. 

' ' • • • ' I • • • • • • 

19. Fulinf:lr b~?.e.~xih li'JYdiscu$.s!ons with Mr Godbe1' :~hq ME> H.1:1tr.i~"! b.eU13.1J~ that 

20, 

21. 

electronic cqpies of correspondence ·.and otlwr doQ'yi.D$nt§ 'w~.re g~n~r~lly 

:~:::~£~1{§<~r~~~hlY~~:,~~~~J~·J!~~eS~~%.6.i~·:i~rg~~l~~-:h:r;.~!tt~~~ 
r~r~tr~~,--t8:.':1b_::~~~;~R~i·~!~mwH·,~(6,):·w.tfil§..\'c{.~t~~~~i::~\§ti?H:;~,,~~-i*~oJ~.!.lh61o&Ei·· 
minUtes oLOlas~ A M~mber me·~iinss. In mY revieW of:tlieExPtlve.io;date 1 
hav.e hot been able tofloca,ethgse fll~~· 

.::.:,·:: . : . : . ·, ~ 

::. 

· ll~t~f~w!Ji~~~r~~it1i1~i~J}~~~t~,j~~{f~~~~: 
reMreqto -I~ i~.tiqp?l.;~St~P.h:~{d) ,9Nhl.s\~ffW!'iV!t· . . · ... 

~~~l~?:t:~:~~~~~;~~l{!~!Jti:?~i~ilr:~J;~~t;~: 
Pial!l~.iff tq '!3Qa,b1Ef.bim tb do :so._.;Mr~Gotlb$thf;l~ :~l$oJolq me ;and 1 :bl311e.ve 'that 

isW~tY bu~W.!ti ,hi~ h,eWrole !and '$hy:~$sJ9h:lnce h:e. :ptoVJ(les n:e~~sJ,9 be as 
effic!Eml.m~ .possTI?l~f. · .. ·.: ·. 

22. Ms Mhmis h<Js ~old 'me ~th~f; ~dti)eot 't~ 'oh~$~ihb1tJ ;,n~~nen~e~t i~9~I ~~ivlce 
re~~r~ln9 JWU@~ll(ty.Jo ~d_g pQ, ,~h~,J$.:pr~p~rSla .tQ :~t$.:Sl9t• ~lth.oM~h ~~hE;) also 
re:~tl!(e$ .M!:J.~M 't9 ~~~ ct$1$V~J1t doou_m:Eints ,of the.:.RJalntlffJ~tMl;l.bia her to ;do 
so. Ms Harris ~lil:ls a,Jso told tne tha.\1 as she Js now_,a sehior>tni;lhagerwith an 

International pharriiaceutic~I::G9.fl1Paryy; !She 1~ e~!reme.lY b~.1sy '~nd reql1lrE:Js 

that th~ fhn\'1 r~m!ln~d to 9bMn -her €!ss{sl~nP.~ P~ rni.oiJUI$eQ py e!WI,lrl.f19 that 
~lfrelev~nl ·docurherits :are aw:illabi~ and i:>tQ~nls~d·Wnen ;;;henneets with us. 
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23. 

( 

( 

1 aiti informed h · Mt 'B''~"mOuf' 'and 'i b'eiieve that tne au···· ti"hs 1 ·· the 

.•IJhX§p#~~.,~(~t~:.~%9J .. ~t~~!~~:~(~ti~:~,t,~t~nX~ht.:Rt.P.J~im~;~t~ .. ~t~-4h~e~p~s~.·~r.rts 
l<howledge ;i:indi!J~Ij~f)h~Ylri..S ;t~gard ;t<~:thel~ok-of-:acoes$ twfhe Plaintiff's 

document?, twe ~nc.l in p~_ill9.l!l§r lh?lli 

< f1) ·· Mr,Ji~He. -to.W ;Wn:ttb.~ .mfJ!t~r§ ~~~~g~g )ini~gf99taP.h 4 <:>Ntw· Stflt~ment 
Qf \Qifiimi.Pll-9r't§'bpt!J·,f~p-~g$Jt!b:ei',.gO)b; 

(b) · MrJ:~tt~:>t9.i#ihtmithe-.in~$1t$'f.$AM:t~9~~_iJhiP_f;lt@rgph 1 ofthe.statell'lent 
or c1a1rn-6'n o:r.,a'IY~:~tQa,o~~w~mb~r;2{)Jo;-; ·- -

Co). h~, ~Mnd.~g Jh~ :rfn~~Un9, ;plilrtiqtJI~fl~e.d :in paragraph 9 of the 
' --'··· ···. ·-·.··· .,, ·: ... ,,'.•;':·,•;;" ... ······ ······".. . . . 

$l?t~m~nbgf'QI~!IJJ'9l1~-b.~JJrg!Mr?1~5:l!t~ ~~~lf ~~S\Y WPrds whfoh were·tq 
the sl,l~${aoce of ftie <mift$t~ -~~l O.Ufin p~ra~ra~h ·'7 of the '~Hatermmt 
ofbtalm· ·~·· ··--~ 

(d) Mr -Latte\~_aveJilm a 'copy .. of::the'mhiUtes'referred to In paragraph a of 
-the Statem~nt:of,'OI~inri!n ·or:8b6liH30D.e~ember 201 Or 

(e) fV1r LeH~~Q?V~_,Mr§~Yll19.~I fl QRP,.Y 9Hh~Twelve PQinh3 Documenf.(;m 
or a.l?q~t'XJ~I1~~-& '~B1b; ... , . . 

(O Mr L~tt(:l g~ve Mr$~ym·oilt a copy ,~fM~ Tw~w~r~oihts "Respohs~ -on 
or at?ou! 5 JanuatY,~01 o 

. .: . .. . 

(g) Mr seymour read each oLthe tfotum~hls l'efetred to In ,sttbparagraplis 

23(d) ·~ (f) of this affidavit on ·or :about the day he receiVed each 
document; 

(h) bqsed pn; 

(i} his 'personail~nowl~~-gl:l 'Qftthe. $ec9nl;l P~fendant ~nd hi.s bei!ef 
as to th$ $eoond b.eferidE\lies stro119 control of thotbu(lhbred 

raoin~rln Queensumd; and 
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(II) t1is · b'~ll$ffrow1 'thE;J' mJnUl$13' Md :ar~ft boMJltotion tMerre~ 'to in·-

-BW~-~r,~P-~-~z;~fl~P.?(~~~-'~tm,ttl,p~_2,to_tpt~lp1, _. _ 

· h¢.·;~~~)~~~~-)W~Oth~:§~~~9:r~-;P~i~r~§nt;§_:t~~r~.§~nt~tl§n#:·w~r~ !11-~d~ 
IJY '!ibn \)I'! the 'b~~l~ 'lh;;i~ lh~ ·:wf.!~\~~1.1? l9l~Ji~~~ \fpr \th!? new ~ontrol 
bo:dyi· · ·. ·;: · 

:· ': ·;·,.;:~:·.: ::: . ..:::-:·\:·:.·: \\''• :_:.:;_: ;.-;-;,:i:: :~·: ,., ; :: . ,, . ':: :; . 

(.
i)-_ -. k ,. M . ' . . ... ff·:h · - ··-M .. S.PQ. :~ ,V\fjtll ~/ k~,t.t~. if! \P~f~qh c;'\h'd :by -. ~ efl __ one. on 

(i!) 

nUtiierot.ls~;o:O_(lli\S,Ioh'SW~~-aiclltfg \tn~Tpfqp6seCl Jntegratlori ,Of 'the 
. ·., .. ·. ·-.- •"," • .. ·'·' ... . 

3 oodes and H1e'faot1h'~t::' :_ · · -• • ;· ·- , ·-

fP;.) th~,$.~9QI'!Q. ;p~J~.ri~B.nt ;h~~ :gJ!J.~!rith~: ~9.syrqnces $11).g 
GPtnmil~~ni$·i~t~rt~~;tp·~Jh:p~r~9r.EiPh~·-;j ·and 13 of the 
8ta't9'm~n't ·6t·Ofi:Ulft; 'find 

(8) It h~d ;P.e.E~n :~Qre:e:d -1h~tj if :the harness ra.cln~ .cpde 
, 'a~re:ea tto rpl:lrtloip~te 1iPtlie ::pro,poseti mteg'rauon, 'the 

prppQse.d-new ·9q_!ilr91 po.dY Woy1qik~~P !~Hid use,AIPfon 

:~~J!it~~~~'i!r-:l.~trw~~:.~~$\:n~rm~:9~ racl,ng --and 

he pattiRIB€lt~d ,in me·etings Wlth .Mr Le.tte ,and variotisly the .. :.·· ····': :·,_.-.:.::'·;:."· ... ·. . ,,. .. 

followhi9 'people': 

Mr Knudse~. a director of tne Plaintiff; 
. ·. '•: ~ . . . .. . . . 

(D) Mr P!ill Milph$11, the Authorised Representative of the 
diassA Members: 'and 

Signed:-.. ;~'··' 
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( 

( 

(E) .. · Jhei$P,tf3,.sem~tlv~~? ,qf:th~ .. ,QI~S.!> A:Mainbers .set .out in 

the :partiC,~I?r~ ~·~it· P?(€19n=!Pb ':f9· ·qf',lh~ ·,st~lem~nt of 

.(ilJ> .. :h~ ;r;~q~!U®~ :~ .~9RYJPtitJ~~,.,.@~1'R~ ·.~R#~m#pi. ter$rr~~ to in 
pfir~gt.~Ph, (<.{) •Q.f lha p~rtioi.!l$.t~ ... of ,if?ftt@($ph ~5 of the 

' '··· -.· .···: . . .... . ··:" ·-···-· 

statetr\Mt 6t Clahn; 

. . (I~). ~~i~~~lii~i~l~:t:~~~l~::~~:::~:::~ 
· M .. ·' .'the;~u ·~tahoerofl · · · .. a ters ;set1o Lin;· i!r·· F hs 7 ·1· ana ·., .. ,,,,., .. · ,..,,~ .. ,,,, .. , .. , .... , ... , ... ,,,. ..•. , ........ b.~,Jn.,t ... ,, .. , ... ·,'···":.'··· .. .J:!;, .. , .. , .•. ,,.R"J~~ •.. ~.R·.. J ... 1 

13 :of '·toe .;statement ot·:.Cialm iiha. ;fh(') :Jette'rs set out in 

p~g~~r~~~·§:··§~.: ·~j·i·.·~Qq :n,~ .. ·.~~;;,,~~~.~~:~~~~.~i:Jb~ maetings 
refEi!rm.Q tg;ll}i!>MQP5l.ff.l9~€1Ph'@rl)(ii):;:Q.f,Jfii§ ~f@JlYnl 

. ; :: .. :·.; .;: ·,.:;i.r• : ......... . 

:;;,_·· : ·. ···.··. .,.:. 

(A) the ~RPJOVfJIS ·f!S a 9.0JJ'tJP! ;P.QPY··for all :~ pf th~ then 
control po~i~s (lrib!qdb)p ·lh-~ · .· ''F~i~lntiff) would be 

(f3) 

R:~\Jo~!!~~ .. ~P~- .t6~:R~W .~r?ntr!Sl bqJly ~ppolnt~d as the 
C ..... tr"··r b·.···ct · :f' r· .··rl.3'c .. ,d. a·····'··.·- ·d· .OJ\ p O):',P. a.< , .~··>~!.an 

all .onne as·sets of tlie'theh B control bodies would be 

tra~~f~rr~~'J_~·,t.h~ ;,~.§;. .. 9.~:ry,tipJ ~9~:9 ~ml tlwre WQ~Jg be 
no GOm~~.l;s~Ob~ . pJld' for th~t tr~nsft3r or the 
c.ahoeilallon oHM apptov~i$-~.~ (JQtlkoJ bodies: 

l .• . ..... 
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, h~':attenaed ,~ mee'tihQ'JNiih :~hfj"Ol~s$' A "M~rnbers ,on the mo;·rilng of .a 
:·.· . ... 

'FeBt.UWy''2b1ti 'Htl'rinrFwliioif:Mr".GMte' fs'aw ·the rrfatters set t>ut in 

P~,;~gra,ph 2(l.ofJh~ st~t~til~nt_of ·CI~iM'( .... 
.. - . . . 

<k> · · · b€?.Wh~~:·ktth th$-i~t~~§j~ :t\1-~m~~~~ ·~s,';~;~~ijd~d 'ln;paras~~ph · 21 at tM 

(I) 

(ni) 

(n) 

s\~1~mtnhW ci~irnr · · · · · --

·'l?~.l:v~~. P.n ,, i1J*¥-IJ*~i9h§Nii.th r~rx~.§~ti!~'Y~§!9f·lb~ .91.~§§/AM~ni!?.\:lJS, .. Jo 
th"e'·'fii~etirlg'':'feYEf'-~·crtOin sdlf-- ,~{ r~i' hs''2e{'){fi) and ;2ad> ·~:md•(k) :·or 

. ···~~!!~t~~:!~!~!~~~~~~~~~~i::~:~~:~:~~:! 
had .the ;class.A·:Members ,and ;:Glass ,B Members ~oted as seH>ut In 
~~kPEli~9r~p:[s!g~(i):•:§,1~;(m> ·QntiJ~.·~-if~~€!YlJ: ·. · ' ·· 

(I) Jb~!l?l~ttiJ!ff'W.9Yl~:h€lV~ :Rm:n;,tiJy,,r~§9Jv~~-,1o lrifo.rm, @nct wpvld 

•h.a.Y!.'l )ll}fPtnw~. ith:~ ·G.o~t;~.mm~nt •Ail:qi:'Jh~ Pl~lntiff was not 
a~:reeable to lhe p-ro.po:se.d int~~ratipn; and 

(/\) 

~: : ,';: :. ; ; ·.;,·:' .. . .,·· . . ,. 

M4y 'h~y~ · ;pr~q!3Eici~d · :«ilth 'the inte_gration of the 
ili~'r~t~lib.i~~ 9-~~ fir.e~ho·~~~ ·r~pjng podes; 

. . ..?, :,· ·, .. 

wciu:lg m9t :h9Y~ ,f?rgg~gg~~· with '(h€7 lnt~gr:allon of the 

nJrri~if.r~~~.r-9 ~P:ct~:· . · .. ·. 
( o) had he 'and the other"dlrMt<Yr$ d,tfhe' Plaintiff not be.iieved thpy C9Vkl 

rely oh the matters plaacted hi para.sraph 22 of the statement of ctalni 
theywoutd halie proceeded as set ont In subparffgraph 23(n)(i) of this 

Signed;;,;)~. 
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( 

( . 

affidaVIt wllh 'the 'r$sult that .th!;3 :0overnme.nt W9Uid 'hf!Ve ··qofed :in the· 

~.~.~~·~r .• ~et,:?W}~.:~q~P:~~~~~~~~~·~·~try),~l!) .. ;~.ft~!s,~~t,?~il!!:.;. 
(P) n~9 ·~~~h~r:~f.ih~. ~~f§9§~:6t~ .. 1bWW.§'~;ur~'B'~'~t!fftrt'~r·t?.me )5,~$-~i~Q. 

(q) 

of :the Racing and oth~r LegiSlation Afiiehdmeht. Act.1201 o that the 

FJ~~t D9f!iln~~n\; 
· .. , .. , . ·. '·' .. , .. :-•.-.·., ... '····.···· 

. ,_. 

(A)··· k~~~ , · n~f u~·e ·A' lbi6h R~f~ 'as the lo · t rm h · e 'of .H {t . . . .. . . ..... . . . . . 1\ . , .. ng e . om 
:Mrii·esstacln.~; :ana , . ·--

(S) use betvyee!n :$14iOoo;ooo ana ·~18(0oo;ooo of th§ 

·atiflgjp~i~.~' ;@QV~JO!U!?,Q' · 'f~rtglhg to blilld a new 

grahd$'talld '~fAiblpn::P:ark; 

·(Ui). re$'llt;Jd /from 'ih~ r~pJe$ehi~fi9M. ·<>ftl~ sGh.i:lltmqn ~~~acleti In 

parl:i~raphs .7; 7A,78 and 13 ofthefStatement of O'ra{rn, 

tlie Plaintiff WoUld haVe iiliTormetHhe G6vernm~tltthat:the Pla'intiff had 

withdrgwn Its ggreell)ent l() 1he hitegratlon and·,\lhe proposed 

Je.·~t~~?~'~P.:Y;'l~~,~h.~ r~~~:tttp~.t!r~,~:~~~rPW:~~~.ty~~¥l~J. h~Y~ ~oled 'i.o;the 
rn~.n.n$r{p§tqttt;iti @I:!»Sir~t.~t~ph;~a(oJ(ii):t9H!i!~ .@i~€lv!ti 

. . . . . . . :'" . . . .: :':" . . ' '· . .. . " '\ ~ . ; . :1 ·: .. : . 

the effecloNile,ontcome'as· ~t(:ouhlh subpar····· .... hs:22( ·)· and ~2(o') . . . . . . .. .. . . .. . ... ·. ·-- $ . . . . . . . . . . . ~~nl.P . . n . . .. . . 
ofthis aJfidavit would haV.e beeh that the Plah'itiff wouid ·have retaln'Eld 
and lhetefore not suffered 'Joss in relatioh to: 

(I) ifs 'half<lnterest lh .Aibion'Pgrk; 

(il) it~ !;1pprov~l ~$ the c.ontrol body f9r harness rach'lg In 

dueensl~ndi and 

Take .. 
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(a) at no :fime between 23 ;December 200"9 :ana s Februaw 2010 did !Mr 

(b) 

. . -~~H~:t~r('Mr ~~Xiri.9~Y:Jrt~}1r.~y?,~f§p;~·p~f~hQ~9\:'9~9J~qi?~l~~ lr ·~nY 
W<lYtlh~l:· · 

~ :· .. ; . -.'·:~:: : .. ': . ' . ·,·. :. ~ -~·'· ·. _: . 

(I) hi~ ·§t~temE;Jnts •$elot,.it )n p"r~WJfi:!Ph~ tMd 11 ,oft he ~$ta~emetit 
..... ;·cStf]J~im:w$re'mel'elyhi~\9piii!Pm.2r:.. .. . . . .. .. . . . 

(ii) h$. :e::o~I<J not fiAe~~'Nvith• !~l:fY.;;a.~fhoriW ,as to ,'Wiiat the n~w 
,conttol hodY.WOOid 'do IHhe'intt~gfation was ~gteed; '· -~~·<· . :.:.'-.:\\ :··.">'.~.--. . : .. :._, .· ... : . .'~;:·:.:·.- ... 

hE:! hAg DQ1'?~!;!1:l!th~·l~t!~Pt€!f~tr~~'l9:Jn.$ypp~r~gr,~ph ~~(€1)(VI) Qf:the 
m~t~.nQ~ b~f(lrEj_: 

. . . . ... : ~- '· : . ·'\ 

(i) ~i.th~t:PNh~ m~~tl.ng~rt)l~a:d~~ ~i.n ;pa.ragraphs 20 and 22 of the 
·siatement:ot":cr· 6 iiw .. . . .. q I 

(IJY •:the.Jettertef!3naa to in parastc1ph 23 of'th'e statemeht ofGiairn 

was sent; 

(c) 'fu.rth~r J:l~ :t.he3 ,:1(')\(~r r~f€lrreq :19 in '~W .. PPI;lr~gr~mh ;~.~{~)(VJ) 9f tne 
Oef~t\Pl;l: · 

(I) h'~ s lY• it· · ··fh· · · ··F· ~Ci ass··cn '1-l' · '· t' ha · lh -1_, !J. .. !Ja. rf;:Ji;UP~ WI., .. ~IU.C1LVl~ .r. ._.,!';) •. 9 11HPJ~ ... o .. ve em 
~ith$t.iieidt~~$~d.'tb .~i,'iit<J~ss~d ·bY his p.er$6n~J assistanti Ms 

sue. :BUrns, .:aiid -·~Ms Bums ·pr'ints ·.relevant •:err@ Is to-r hhn to 
review; 

(ii) lw .w~H> not.'lo hb> offlce ctqrlng J:>g~in~~~ 'b9WS. gn ·~3 PEJJ?rw;~ry 

2.0to E~s h~ w~s P!:ll ·or'the: qffip-e '~~.~llldi@ '~he meefings 
·1e ·ded In · Y ·· a hS 2o 21 .a .. l'ld. 2.2 of the s.· tatement of P JL. . . Pi:l a.gr P , 

Glahn; 

(iii) M does not recall reading 4he letter at any thne between 9 

February 201 D and 11 Novem~er':201 Q; 

Signed: .... ~ .. 
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( 

( 

(iv)··. he r~~d:lhe<1Wer"-$om$timf:'!•.attet.·$ iFehru~ry :2010 :and is 

LflYableftofi6Widentify ;pteoise!9Wiien; · 

'(v) Wheh M·•reaa ·rt h~uhaersto6d It ·as:rer?Nanuy~ · 

(A) 

. . ·- --.·.::·· \'. 

inc)r9~Hrw th<li' :{6:~. :$~9sm9 D¢f~n9~nl w~~ n9t ~p[e t9' 
:_agr~~ iOI\ ~·~o~if· Q.(.tlw· 'Fk~l; cie.tenctant fh~t \he 

··· · ;7~P{~~~lQR':I~~·~l~·fiJI:.pJ~.Mt~Q .. ~f0~.~~; · 
·(~) · ML··ih ·~alW rvit?.y J~~IJin~ '·ftrJm ~fhE'l· inatler$ set out 

,J> .. ara~t~phs 7.s 7A1 7S :aM. tl3 oHn¥l staten)eht of 'Claim: 
:; '· · ..... · .. '; ,\ . ·: :~ ... :.". : ·. 

(vi) If h€d1~~ r~M th~ letter tin (if ~~6~t B Febritary 2010 h€rW6i.ild 
.. \ ._, . .. '" 

h~ye 'tJri~~i§t99g !l 1o fhg · ~~Xri~? m~nner as ~et out In 
suhpar~gra~h M(c)(V) of1h!$.~f(lqt)vlf; and 

(d) therC? was no ~l,~~u.r;;~Jgp ;P.!?lW~~m) ~Mr ·S~Ymp.l.!r· ~rnd Mi· L~He, Mr 
J<n~udsen or Ms bawson to 'the ;effect that any of them ·believe·d .or 
coitcethed thattheilattef inQIC'~Iea ihafithe 'Secidnd D~fendaht was In 

any w~y r~$llii19RoiirtM iXL~ft~r§ ~,el''.oYH~~r~gr@phs 7, 7Ai ?S a11q 13 
pf·tb·~ &t~l~m~.hl:PfGlt~1m. 

Importance of.Aibic>n Park 

(a) shE!: 

(i) was a Board Member .of the aueehslalid Harness Racing 
Board froni 2004 to 200B:, 

(ii) ~h~ 11~.$ ~e~n ·~ gJ~f:l.Qf9r of th~ J?l~hitiff ~;l.nce 23 D(:lcem~er 
2()10i 

(i!i) she has P!'l!'iJI a m~mhf'lr .qffh~ an;J~~~r§ ·OWner~ Tr.airters ·& 
Relnspetsons AssoCiation (Old) Incorporated (BOTRA) f6r 
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'qpproxlmately A o .years and •is :presently the .secretary and 

TreasurerofBOTRAi·'· 

{b) Alpiqn !P8rk 'hes<• P!'lf:ln <th€l· PrJh.-ylpf!l OJub ·tor h!lfile!>s racing In 

Q~~~~2?:!~?~:f:of,~~er~~Jm~F~'Y.~Jf.~~.~~$.: ...... . 
:(4) $h€l Ms r!?Yl~Wi3d fhEl:B~f~PifJh ·~tYd heJieves: 

<l) · Wi~f'tne P'topo$.ed 'r~P.la'dilfu~fi't'friok :ar oe:a-Q6n 1s ·11weri6r· to 

AlbiOFi'R~tK{with 'at~pl~cemell}t Qhinastana);-

(ii) the,oloslfre ofAiblon Pafl< ~!ilr~~~!t !•u!3@ce«; 

(il') ) 

(A). pgfti§iP@9n .?n~JoJ~r~~i !n;,;9D<I 

(s) · hetHng ;bn. · · 

hat~1~$$.(i:lgin.~ilfi'QQ~en~ll:in~: ~he! 

qS ;~ ;oons.~.quehc:e:o.f'fh€lJti~tters iteferr~d to In -~_ubparagraphs 
25(9)(1) and't(ii):ab_ove, thereN~iil be: 

(A) less potential returM Oh ·invk~ttft~ht '~n1d therefore less 

Incentive for.own(:)rs; 

(C) less potential earnings and therefore leqs :lnoen.llVe· for 

J)eopJe to be Mrn~.ssr~oingtralnt'irs:atid drhJers; an<l 

(O) less liH~resLin m.telldiQS .'ha-rness tacihg ineetlngs at 
other vehtles ahd the.refore less hioome for the harness 

racing Cltlbs 'Operating al'those 'VehM~S" 

(d) she atten~ed a meeting pf ~pproxtm.<l~~ly ~30 people at MarbLtrg 
$howgTolln~is on 1:3 Febrqary'2611 ·a.nd \h~t: · 

Signed: .. ~ ... 
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( 

( . ;' 

(I) tb~ p~~~t!v~ :1hJP,9PtPtl _bNU.E3:~,!?.X~{liO,~ !.rf the. $~Je of Albion 

J~t~rk.l;\(~$,•.~-t(.)pl_p p{,d,J§qii~~Jphc,~J:tn~·me.~!I(IQ.; .anti 

(U) . ~M:ha$ ;r~@Jh~~~rtl91;$·r~f~fi.~dt6 :i6'~~ti6~~r~§r~ph 20) ,ot:this 

. ,affl,qal.(lt anti ;ilh~ "ilti~~tj(lg '.{e.fert@.~ ~:tg.Jn 'th0.9f3 ·'a.rtiol~~·,ls ttle, 
me~ting :r~fE!rn;~g to lnllJ.l~ ,S,_q~p~r,~gr~ph; 9tl.~ 

,_:·;(,,.:~·;·;:.: ;:. -~.: 'i :. : .. ; \· ·. ·.:.:, 

(e) vihfl~ :me Pl?[r!Hff ;prEl$!'1r.iJ!y :h~$ Jn pl[g~ (IMXJ9ial ·~rr~t:tQ~iti~nts ·which 
... ····MfmlfHJ!$.'J~fp~~~WWifff'tHW:rnt(~§U~:O':.·····~·}i'" ._ .. ,,. · ,., .. · .. ,, ;•_• .. · 

.':·:·,·:':'·::·.·. -~-~:-:r::~· ···: .-·~::;:\:~ -~:; .. .... · ... ,·\~>:.:· 

(il) if :11w · :PI'~ihtiff 'is oxcl@r~#. ~t9 .·ProVid@ ;s~ourlty •for- c.osll? '<~ild 
o~mt:lJ~t :$€J.cqre :s_U9h ~f;loYi:IJyJr9m ~ 'thlra party, •the PlalntJff,Wiil 
b~:uMbt~ .to p.too~.ed:}lhd . ·· ·. · 

'· .. :·:· ... · ... :, 

(Ill) to. the ext$bt that tne ·Plaintiff-Is presen'tly ;recelvirfg 'fiii'anclal 

i3upp:ort wllich has .i3nabled it-to prosecute Jh? 91?itn~ ~lg~in~fth~ 

tl~~~~r~~t'r PrQYidlng such ~MilPQd§~~d$.'\~:~l\IP 

EGIVJ ~-30 N9V~nlP(;)l' 2.1.111 

26; In reMOon to p:qr~~raphs 22 and 31 Of ·Mi· Grace's affidavit of 4 Febriiary 

2011. 1 am irtfotmed l:JY Mr seymour ahd oelieve tliat: 

(a) hl:l-spoke 'to 'Mr ume prior to 'the issuing of notices f9r the nw$\!09 ,on 
30 November and ·saJ<I w9rq~vi9 him 'to ;tne eff~pt:th~ta rn~etihg wa~do 
~e b.~ld P.ll.d. hE! l.leJI~V~d th~? mi;J${i.hg w~s likely to dl~ouss m~tters 
which ooukl result lh a .co.hfliot. of bYterest for Mr .Lett a: 

Page'17 
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(b) Ml'lette responderl"JoJMr; seYt:rfour td i~b effect that, in iight of that, he 
'., ••.• ·.:."; •• · •. ·;-.··.····· ._ •. !_._-'.·. -.• •, · .. , -: ·.····-,;· .• ,,_.·.' ,. 

would ~-hot tak~ ,·;:ir'JY .:part Jn \h~ r:n~!3til:l9 ~;~nd atwt Mr 9t3Ynwur ,qpyld 

11Pl~ bl§ ~P919Qlfl~~qr Jh.~ .~§~ling; Fm<l 

· ·· (c) ·.• .. · · 'ih 'C!Ctfo,r(l;;ln¢<?With'th~t P.l:/~itiqfi;J).ii_r!J;~M:~W hot!!!Wmctth!) meeflng~ 
•. ···:: • ., ... _: ·, :_. :' • '! 

: '-':,· 

27, 1-·· hl:lV(3_ :re¢elved · lnWuolton!?•lt9.ID:,$Mhr.:i)f4h!3 ;,ent.l.ti~s ..r~f$(r.f3.d .,to .'as the 

Se.dohd to Fifth jflfliiitiffs Jt1 :.th.e ;pf.cipbs€id Hit.ther .Amehfl¢d Staten1Elllt. of 

:~~~:~;~~:':~&lt;~~;~;~:~;:~~:;::Ji~~~~\~~~J~~~~~~~t~~~.:~,~~ 
the,:p~~is set <ltHln'thijb~o¢1im~nt ~$f~99h~~~p·6$'si61~(·· . 

···-. ·\ 

SWORN ,by ANDREW ROBERT HARRIS bh '20H~bruacy'2011 ·at BrisbCJne in the 

... : .... ' . 

. :::.,: . . 

~-· 
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SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND 

REGISTRY: BRISBANE 
NUMBER: 13832/2010 

First Plaintiff: QUEENSLAND HARNESS RACING LIMITED (ACN 128 036 000) 

AND 

Second Plaintiff: 

Third Plaintiff: 

ALBION PARK HARNESS RACING CLUB INCORPORATED 
(ABN 20 915 436 422) 

AND 

· GOLD COAST HARNESS RACING CLUB INC 
(ABN 44 353 563 241) 

AND 

Fourth Plaintiff: REOCLIFFE PENINSULA HARNESS RACING AND SPORTING 
CLUB INC (ABN 95 525 290 290) 

AND 

Fifth Plaintiff: BREEDERS OWNERS TRAINERS & REINSPERSONS 
ASSOCIATION (QLD) INCORPORATI:D (ABN 82 432 467 833) 

AND 

First Defendant: RACING QUEENSLAND LIMITED (ACN 142 786 874) 

AND 

Second Defendant: ROBERT Gf:OFFREY BENTLEY 

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE 

The Plaintiffs provide the following summary of the evidence and the name of each 

witness upon which they presently intend to rely to prove the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 24B(b)(ll), 25(b)(i) and 28A(b)(i) of the Second Further Amended 

Statement of Claim ("the allegations"). 

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE 
Filed on behalf of the Plaintiffs 
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1. The Plaintiffs intend to call Robert Lette, the former Chairman of the First 

Plaintiff, to give evidence. Because the Plaintiffs' solicitors have, for reasons 

previously set out in affidavits filed in this proceeding, not yet been able to obtain 

a detailed statement from Mr Lette, what follows is the Plaintiffs' understanding 

of the effect of the evidence that Mr Lette will give in relation to the allegations 

and the documents he will refer to in evidence or will be tendered through him 

relevant to the allegations. The evidence will be to the following effect: 

(a) that from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2010, he was a director, a Class B 

Member and the Chairman of the First Plaintiff; 

(b) that he knew the Second Defendant to be the Chairman of Queensland 

Racing Limited (ACN 116 735 374) and that the Second Defendant had a 

long history of involvement with the control of racing in Queensland, 

including: 

(i) as Chairman of the Queensland Principal Club from 1993 to 2002; 

(ii) as Chairman of the Queensland Thoroughbred Racing Board from 

2002 to 2006; 

(iii) as Chairman of Queensland Racing Limited from 1 July 2006 to the 

time the representations were made (and later to 30 June 2010); 

(iv) that he knew that the Second Defendant had been closely Involved 

in various reforms in the industry and had a reputation within the 

racing industry of being very influential; 

.... _ __ _ _ ____________ .. .. ____ (c} .... .thatb~ __ kne_w __ M..rMike. ... Ke.lly.Jo.J~e __ tbe __ E~e..c.utive. .... D.Jm.c.tor..oi !b_e_Qfflc_e_Qf ..... __ 

Racing within the Queensland Department of Employment, Economic 

Development and Innovation and Mr Ken Smith to be the Director"General 

of the Queensland Department of the Premier; 

(d) that he was aware of the Product and Program Agreement, the lntercode 

Agreement and the Club Contracts; and in particular that the Intercede 

Agreement provided to the effect that during the term of the Product and 

Program Agreement, the distribution of income from, inter alia, the Product 

and Program Agreement, was to be distributed in accordance with the 

flowing fixed distribution percentages: 
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Thoroughbred Code: 76.0% 

Harness Code: 14.5% 

Greyhound Code: 9.5% 

(e) that on or about 18 December 2009 he attended a meeting with the 

Second Defendant, Mrs Watson (a representative of the greyhound control 

body), Mr Kelly and Mr Smith, at which Mr Kelly sought on behalf of the 

Queensland Government, the agreement of the three racing codes to an 

amalgamation of the control bodies in exchange for which the Government 

would make available to the industry a capital works fund in the order of 

$80,000,000; 

(f) that he attended a further meeting on 23 December 2009 at the office of 

Queensland Racing Limited attended by the Second Defendant, Mrs 

Watson, Mr Kelly and Ms Carol Perrett (of the Office of Racing), which was 

chaired by the Second Defendant and at which various representations 

were made by the Second Defendant in connection with the proposal for 

the merger of the three codes of racing and the seeking of the agreement 

of the First Plaintiff to the merger; 

(g) that on or about 30 December 2009, he received from the Second 

Defendant, minutes of the meeting of 23 December 2009; 

(h) that on 4 January 201 0 he attended a meeting with the Treasurer, the 

Minister, the Second Defendant and Mrs Watson at which the Treasurer 

and the Minister again sought the agreement of the harness racing code to 
· ·············· ·· ··---··-- -· ·- ··-·· ···-·- ·-·- ·the·merger·proposal;-·- ·---·· ···-- ·-······ ·· ···- - ···-·-·--········-··· ·····--·-···· --·----······ ··· ·---·········· ····--· ---- ······· · --·-· 

(i) that on or about 4 January 2010 he gave the Second Defendant a 

document titled "Amalgamation of the three Racing Codes into a single 

organisation" (the Twelve Points Document), which detailed issues upon 

which the Plaintiffs required clarification so that it could properly consider 

whether to agree to the proposal; 

G) that on or about 5 January 2010, the Second Defendant gave Mr Letle a 

document titled "Answers to Harness Questions 5th January 201 0" (the 

Twelve Points Response); 

(k) that on 6 January 2010, he wrote to the Treasurer in relation to the basis 

upon which the First Plaintiff might agree to the proposal; 
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(I) that on or about 8 January 2010 he received a letter from the Minister 

which stated, among other things, that "a funding package ... amounting to 

more than $80 million will be made available to a united industry to 

redevelop key facilities such as those at Bundall, Albion Park and Logan"; 

(m) that he received a letter dated 15 January 2010 from the Minister seeking 

the agreement of the First Plaintiff to the proposal; 

(n) that on or about 20 January 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister and 

stated that "a great majority of Issues have been resolved including ... 

Albion Park has been guaranteed as the long term home and racing head 

quarters for Harness racing" and "current race product co agreement to 

continue until its end date In 2014."; 

(o) that on 20 January 2010 he received a letter from the Minister extending 

the time to advise whether the First Plaintiff accepted the proposal; 

(p) that on or about 21 January 2010 he received a letter from the Minister in 

response to his letter of 20 January 201 0; 

(q) that on 25 January 2010 he wrote to the Minister raising issues In relation 

to the proposal; 

(r) that on 1 February 2010, he received a letter from the Minister dated 28 

January 2010, responding to the letter of 25 January 2010 in which the 

Minister noted that the First Plaintiff had agreed to the proposal and 

advised that accordingly, he Intended to introduce legislation into 

Parliament to amalgamate the three control bodies; 

(s) that on 2 February 2010, he wrote to the Minister noting the matters set 

out in the Minister's letter and stating that the matter would be referred to 

the Class A members of the First Plaintiff; 

(t) that on 3 February 2010, he wrote to the Second Defendant outlining 

certain matters that required addressing; 

(u) that on 3 February 2010, he wrote to the Minister advising of the matters 

the subject of his letter to the Second Defendant and advising that unless 

satisfactory agreement could be reached, the Class A members would not 

agree to join the merger; 
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(v) that on or about 5 February 201 0 he received a letter from the Minister 

dated 5 February 2010 which asked that as a matter of urgency, the First 

Plaintiff reconsider its participation in the amalgamation process and 

advise on Its participation by 5.00 pm 8 February 2010; 

(w) that on 8 February 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister informing him that 

the First Plaintiff agreed to the proposal on the basis of assurances that 

had been given to the First Plaintiff; 

(x) that he received a letter from the Minister dated 11 February 201 0, 

responding to the letter of 8 February 2010 in which the Minister noted that 

the First Plaintiff had resolved to participate in the amalgamation and that 

he intended to introduce legislation into Parliament to give effect to the 

amalgamation; 

(y) that on 16 February 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister, a copy of which 

was also sent to the Second Defendant, expressing the willingness of the 

First Plaintiff to work together with the Minister and representatives of the 

other codes of racing to give effect to the amalgamation agreed to; 

(z) that he understood that, if the First Plaintiff agreed to the proposal, the 

Minister would cause a bill to be introduced into the Parliament of 

Queensland for legislation to give effect to the proposal and that the 

legislation would become law. 

2. The Plaintiffs also intend to call Kevin Seymour to give evidence in relation to 

the allegations. He will relevantly give evidence to the following effect: 

·· ··· ···· · ·· ·-- ···-····· · ··· ·-·-{at··· that·· he··saw··a-· press·release··issued ··by·· th"e··Minister ·for Tourism-·-and··Fair ······· -· - ·-·--··-· · · --· -····· 

Trading on 20 December 2009; 

(b) that on 9 January 2010 he saw a press release issued that day by the 

Minister for Tourism and Fair Trading; 

(c) that In about mid to late January 2010, he saw the transcript of an 

interview given by the Second Defendant to Steven Hewlett on 12 January 

2010; 
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(d) that he knew the Second Defendant to be the Chairman of Queensland 

Racing Limited (ACN 116 735 374) and that the Second Defendant had a 

long history of involvement with the control of racing in Queensland, 

including: 

(i) as Chairman of the Queensland Principal Club from 1993 to 2002; 

(ii) as Chairman of the Queensland Thoroughbred Racing Board from 

2002 to 2006; 

(iii) as Chairman of Queensland Racing Limited from 1 July 2006 to the 

time the representations were made {and later to 30 June 2010); 

(iv) that he knew that the Second Defendant had been closely involved 

in various reforms in the industry and had a reputation within the 

racing industry of being very influential. 

3. The Plaintiffs also intend to call such additional evidence in relation to the 

allegations as they may be advised, including from Mrs Watson, following the 

completion of interlocutory steps, including completion of pleadings, disclosure 

by the defendants, non-party disclosure and proofing of witnesses. 

Signed: 

Description: Solicitor for the Plaintiffs 

Date: 19 July 2011 
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First Plaintiff: 

Second Plaintiff: 

Third Plaintiff: 

Fourth Plaintiff: 

Fifth Plaintiff: 

First Defendant: 

SUPREME COURT OF QUEENSLAND 

REGISTRY: BRISBANE 
NUMBER: 13832/2010 

QUEENSLAND HARNESS RACING LIMITED (ACN 128 036 000) 

AND 

ALBION PARK HARNESS RACING CLUB INCORPORATED 
(ABN 20 915 436 422) 

AND 

GOLD COAST HARNESS RACING CLUB INC 
(ABN 44 353 563 241) 

AND 

REDCLIFFE PENINSULA HARNESS RACING AND SPORTING 
CLUB INC (ABN 95 525 290 290) 

AND 

BREEDERS OWNERS TRAINERS & REINSPERSONS 
ASSOCIATION (QLD) INCORPORATED (ABN 82 432 467 833) 

AND 

RACING QUEENSLAND LIMITED (ACN, 142 786 874) 

AND 

Second Defendant: ROBERT GEOFFREY BENTLEY 

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE IN CHIEF 

This summary Is additional to the Summary of Evidence filed and served on 19 July 

2011 and is delivered on the basis of the contentions made by the Plaintiffs' in their 

solicitor's letter of 7 November 2011. 

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE 
Filed on behalf of the Plaintiffs 
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In this Summary, the expression: 

o 'Statement of Claim' means the Second Further Amended Statement of 

Claim dated 11 July 2011 

o 'the Representations' is used to generally describe the representations 

referred to in paragraphs 7(c) and 7A of the Statement of Claim; 

o 'Infrastructure Funding' is used to generally describe the funding referred to 

in paragraph 4(b) of the Statement of Claim; and 

o 'Integration Bill' is used to generally describe legislation referred to in 

paragraph 19( c) of the Statement of Claim. 

Robert Lette 

1. Mr Lette has been a director of the First Defendant (Racing Queensland) since 

25 March 2010 and participated ln several meetings of the directors of Racing 

Queensland prior to 1 July 201 0. He was also a director of the First Plaintiff 

(QHRL) in the period 1 July 2008 to a date after 1 July 2010. 

2. Because of Mr Lette's position as a former director of QHRL and current director 

of Racing Queensland and the fact that his ability to provide a Statement has 

been prejudiced by Issues in relation to the defendants' disclosure, at present 

the Plaintiffs say that they expect his evidence will be to the following effect: 

(a) that he is a solicitor and consultant to the firm Mullins & Mullins; 

(b) that from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2010, he was a director, a Class B 

Member and the Chairman of QHRL; 

(c) that before then he had a long history of involvement with the harness 

racing code, including as Chairman of the Albion Park Club; 

(d) that he is aware of the long connection between harness racing and Albion 

Park and the importance of Albion Park to the code and its future; 

(e) that he is aware of the plans that had been discussed by the directors of 

QHRL for the redevelopment of Albion Park and the advice that had been 

received as to the likely cost of that redevelopment and the value of the 

asset; 
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(f) that he is aware of the structure of the racing industry as it existed 

historically, including its structure prior to the integration that occurred on 1 

July 2010; 

(g) that he knew the Second Defendant (Mr Bentley) to be the Chairman of 

Queensland Racing Limited (ACN 116 735 374) and that Mr Bentley had a 

long history of involvement with the control of racing in Queensland, 

including: 

(i) as Chairman of the Queensland Principal Club from 1993 to 2002; 

(ii) as Chairman of the Queensland Thoroughbred Racing Board from 

2002 to 2006; 

(iii) as Chairman of Queensland Racing Limited from 1 July 2006 to the 

time the representations were made (and later to 30 June 2010); 

(lv) that he knew that Mr Bentley had been closely involved in various 

reforms in the industry and had a reputation within the racing 

industry of being very influential; 

(h) that he knew Mr Mike Kelly to be the Executive Director of the Office of 

Racing within the Queensland Department of Employment, Economic 

Development and Innovation and Mr Ken Smith to be the Director-General 

of the Queensland Department of the Premier; 

(i) that he was aware of the Product and Program Agreement, the lntercode 

Agreement and the Club Contracts; and in particular that the Jntercode 

Agreement provided to the effect that during the term of the Product and 

Program Agreement, the distribution of income from, inter alia, the Product 

and Program Agreement, was to be distributed in accordance with the 

flowing fixed distribution percentages: 

Thoroughbred Code: 76.0% 

Harness Code: 14.5% 

Greyhound Code: 9.5% 
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0) that on or about 18 December 2009 he attended a meeting with Mr 

Bentley, Mrs Watson (a representative of the greyhound control body), Mr 

Kelly and Mr Smith, at which Mr Kelly sought on behalf of the Queensland 

Government, the agreement of the three racing codes to an amalgamation 

of the control bodies in exchange for which the Government would make 

available to the industry a capital works fund in the order of $80,000,000; 

(k) that prior to that meeting, he was not aware that there was any proposal 

for amalgamation of the three codes; 

(I) that he received an email dated 22 December 2009 from QHRL's Chief 

Executive Officer, Mr Godber; 

(m) that he attended a further meeting on 23 December 2009 at the office of 

Queensland Racing Limited attended by Mr Bentley, Mrs Watson, Mr Kelly 

and Ms Carol Perrett (of the Office of Racing), which was chaired by Mr 

Bentley and at which: 

(i) he emphasised the importance of Albion Park being retained for 

harness racing to continue at that venue; 

(ii) various representations were made by Mr Bentley in connection with 

the proposal for the merger of the three codes of racing and the 

seeking of the agreement of QHRL to the merger to the effect 

pleaded in paragraph 7(c) of the Statement of Claim; 

(n) that on or about 30 December 2009, he received from Mr Bentley, minutes 

of the meeting of 23 December 2009 under cover of letter from Mr Bentley 

stating that in Mr Bentley's view, the minutes were a true reflection of the 

meeting; 

(o) that on 4 January 2010 he attended a meeting with the Treasurer, the 

Minister, Mr Bentley and Mrs Watson at which the Treasurer and the 

Minister again sought the agreement of the harness racing code to the 

merger proposal; 

(p) that on or about 4 January 2010 he gave Mr Bentley a document titled 

"Amalgamation of the three Racing Codes into a single organisation" (the 

Twelve Points Document), which detailed Issues upon which the 

Plaintiffs required clarification so that they could properly consider whether 

to agree to the proposal; 
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(q) that on or about 5 January 2010, Mr Bentley gave Mr Lette a document 

titled "Answers to Harness Questions 5th January 2010" (the Twelve 

Points Response); 

(r) that on 6 January 2010, he wrote to the Treasurer in relation to the basis 

upon which QHRL might agree to the proposal; 

(s) that on or about 8 January 2010 he received a letter from the Minister 

which stated, among other things, that "a funding package ... amounting to 

more than $80 million will be made available to a united industry to 

redevelop key facilities such as those at Bundall, Albion Park and Logan"; 

(t) that he received a letter dated 15 January 2010 from the Minister seeking 

the agreement of QHRL to the proposal; 

(u) that on or about 20 January 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister and 

stated that "a great majority of issues have been resolved including ... 

Albion Park has been guaranteed as the long term home and racing head 

quarters for Harness racing" and "current race product co agreement to 

continue until its end date in 2014."; 

(v) that on 20 January 201 0 he received a letter from the Minister extending 

the time to advise whether QHRL accepted the proposal; 

(w) that on or about 21 January 2010 he received a letter from the Minister in 

response to his letter of 20 January 2010; 

(x) he had various discussions with Mr Mitchell, the authorised representative 

of the Class A Members, in which he informed Mr Mitchell of the things 

that had been said at the various meetings he had attended and of the 

contents of the Twelve Points Document and Twelve Points Response; 

(y) that on 25 January 2010 he wrote to the Minister raising issues in relation 

to the proposal; 

(z) that on 1 February 2010, he received a letter from the Minister dated 28 

January 2010, responding to the letter of 25 January 2010 in which the 

Minister noted that QHRL had agreed to the proposal and advised that 

accordingly, he intended to introduce legislation into Parliament to 

amalgamate the three control bodies; 
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(aa) that on 2 February 2010, he wrote to the Minister noting the matters set 

out in the Minister's letter and stating that the matter would be referred to 

the Class A Members of QHRL; 

(bb) that on 3 February 201 0, he wrote to Mr Bentley outlining certain matters 

that required addressing; 

(cc) that on 3 February 2010, he wrote to the Minister advising of the matters 

the subject of his letter to Mr Bentley and advising that unless satisfactory 

agreement could be reached, the Class A Members would not agree to 

join the merger; 

( dd) that on or about 5 February 201 o he received a letter from the Minister 

dated 5 February 2010 which asked that as a matter of ttrgency, QHRL 

reconsider its participation in the amalgamation process and advise on Its 

participation by 5.00 pm 8 February 201 0; 

(ee) that on 8 February 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister informing him that 

QHRL agreed to the proposal on the basis of assurances that had been 

given to QHRL; 

(ff) that he received a letter from the Minister dated 11 February 2010, 

responding to the letter of 8 February 2010 in which the Minister noted that 

QHRL had resolved to participate in the amalgamation and that he 

intended to introduce legislation into Parliament to give effect to the 

amalgamation; 

(gg) that on 16 February 2010 he sent a letter to the Minister, a copy of which 

was also sent to Mr Bentley, expressing the willingness of QHRL to work 

together with the Minister and representatives of the other codes of racing 

to give effect to the amalgamation agreed to; 

(hh) that he understood that, if QHRL agreed to the proposal, the Minister 

would cause a bill to be Introduced into the Parliament of Queensland for 

legislation to give effect to the proposal and that the legislation would 

become law. 

3. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, his understanding and belief was that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 
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(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(iii) abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 

4. He also understood that if QHRL's Class A or Class B Members resolved not to 

support the integration, QHRL would not support the Integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

lntercode Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

5. He was present when the directors of QHRL resolved to support the integration 

in reliance upon the Representations. If the Representations had not been 

made, the directors of QHRL would not have resolved (and he as a director 

would not have voted) to support the integration and would have advised the 

Minister accordingly. 
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6. Subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the integration and prior to 1 

July 2010: 

(a) QHRL proceeded with progressing plans for the construction of the new 

grandstand at Albion Park; 

(b) QHRL briefed Mr Tuttle (then of Queensland Racing Limited and now of 

Racing Queensland) about those plans; and 

(c) neither QHRL nor Mr Lette was at any stage advised by Mr Tuttle or 

anyone else at or for Queensland Racing Limited or Racing Queensland 

or Mr Bentley: 

(i) to cease progressing those plans; nor 

(ii) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a 

view to determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(iii) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to or 

otherwise consider that Racing Queensland would not abide the 

terms of the lntercode Agreement from 1 July 2010. 

Kevin Seymour 

7. Mr Seymour has an extensive history of involvement In the harness racing 

industry in Queensland and Australia as an administrator, promoter, breeder and 

owner, including extensive involvement with the Albion Park Club. 

8. He is aware of the long connection between harness racing and Albion Park and 

the importance of Albion Park to the code and Its future and the likely effect on 

harness racing if Albion Park was not to be used as the home track for the code. 

9. He is aware of the plans that had been discussed by the directors of the First 

Plaintiff for the redevelopment of Albion Park and the advice that had been 

received as to the likely cost of that redevelopment and the value of the asset. 

10. He is aware of the structure of the racing industry as it existed historically, 

including its structure prior to the integration that occurred on 1 July 2010. 
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11. He has been a director of QHRL since 1 July 2008 and was involved in relevant: 

(a) meetings of or with the QHRL Board and Class A Members (including 

receiving relevant correspondence and documents and Board Papers); 

and 

(b) discussions with QHRL directors, particularly Mr Lette, and 

representatives of QHRL's Class A Members, 

particularly in the period from December 2009 to February 2010. 

12. He was informed by Mr Lette and given copies of various documents as referred 

to in paragraphs 9, 15 and 19 of the Statement of Claim. 

13. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

201 0, he believed that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the Integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Blll to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

{i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

{ii) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(d) abide the terms of the Intercede Agreement such that 14.5% of funds 

received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program Agreement 

would be used for harness racing purposes. 
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14. He also understood that if QHRL's Class A or Class B Members resolved not to 

support the integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

15. Specifically, he was present when the directors of QHRL resolved to support the 

integration in reliance upon the Representations. If the Representations had not 

been made, the directors of QHRL would not have resolved (and he as a 

director would not have voted) to support the integration and would have 

advised the Minister accordingly. 

16. Subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the integration, QHRL: 

(a) proceeded with progressing plans for the construction of the new 

grandstand at Albion Park; 

(b) briefed Mr Tuttle (then of Queensland Racing Limited and now of Racing 

Queensland) about those plans; and 

(c) was at no stage advised by Mr Tuttle or anyone else at or for Queensland 

Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley: 

(i} to cease progressing those plans; nor 

(ii} that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a 

view to determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 
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(iii) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not Intend to or 

otherwise consider that Racing Queensland would not abide the 

terms of the Intercede Agreement from 1 July 2010. 

17. He will also give evidence to the following effect: 

(a) that he saw a press release issued by the Minister for Tourism and Fair 

Trading on 20 December 2009; 

(b) that he received an email dated 22 December 2009 from Mr Godber; 

(c) that on 9 January 2010 he saw a press release issued that day by the 

Treasurer; 

(d) that in about mid to late January 2010, he saw the transcript of an 

interview given by Mr Bentley to Steven Hewlett on 12 January 2010; 

(e) that he knew Mr Bentley to be the Chairman of Queensland Racing 

Limited (ACN 116 735 374) and that Mr Bentley had a long history of 

involvement with the control of racing In Queensland, including: 

(i) as Chairman of the Queensland Principal Club from 1993 to 2002; 

(ii) as Chairman of the Queensland Thoroughbred Racing Board from 

2002 to 2006; 

(iii) as Chairman of Queensland Racing Limited from 1 July 2006 to the 

time the representations were made (and later to 30 June 2010); 

(f) that he knew that Mr Bentley had been closely involved in various reforms 

in the industry and had a reputation within the racing industry of being very 

influential. 

Janice Dawson 

18. Ms Dawson has been a director of QHRL since 1 June 2008. Ms Dawson was 

involved in relevant QHRL Board Meetings (including receiving copies of 

relevant Board Papers) and discussions with other QHRL directors, particularly 

in the period from December 2009 to February 2010. 

19. She was informed by Mr Lette and given copies of various documents as 

referred to in paragraphs 9, 15 and 19 of the Statement of Claim. 
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20. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, she believed that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the Integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected. 

21. She also understood that if QHRL's Class A or Class B Members resolved not to 

support the integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing In Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

Michael Godber 

22. Mr Godber was Chief Executive Officer of QHRL from (relevantly) January 2009 

to 30 June 2010. In that capacity, among other things, he had a working 

knowledge of the operation of the Product and Program and lntercode 

Agreements and day-to-day issues in relation to Albion Park. 

23. He was involved in relevant: 

(a) meetings of or with the QHRL Board and Class A Members (including 

receiving and sending relevant correspondence and documents and 

preparing Board Papers); and 
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(b) discussions with: 

(i) Mr Kelly and Ms Perrett of the Office of Racing; 

(ii) QHRL directors and representatives of QHRL's Class A Members, 

particularly in the period from December 2009 to February 201 0. 

24. He was, along with Mr Tuttle of Queensland Racing Limited (and now Racing 

Queensland) and Mr Beavis of Greyhounds Queensland, a member of the 3 

Code Implementation Committee (the 3CIC) from about March to June 2010. In 

addition to his involvement as part of the 3CIC, in the period between about 

February and June 2010, he separately briefed Mr Tuttle in relation to matters 

regarding QHRL, in particular the progress of plans for the new grandstand at 

Albion Park. 

25. He sent an email dated 22 December 2009 to Mr Letts and Mr Seymour and 

copied it to Ms Harris. 

26. Based on that Involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, he believed that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the Integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) cause 16% of funds to be provided by the Government for racing 

industry infrastructure works (which he understood would be in the 

order of $80M to $1OOM) to be used to construct a new grandstand 

at Albion Park; and 

(iii} abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 
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27. He also understood that if QHRL's Class A or Class B Members resolved not to 

support the integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i} continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

lntercode Agreement; 

(ii} not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

28. Specifically, he was present when the directors of QHRL resolved to support the 

integration and believed that in doing so the directors were relying upon the 

Representations. He also believed that if the Representations had not been 

made, the directors of QHRL would not have resolved to support the integration 

and would have advised the Minister accordingly. 

29. Subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the integration, Mr Godber; 

(a) proceeded with progressing plans for the construction of the new 

grandstand at Albion Park; 

(b) briefed Mr Tuttle about those plans; and 

(c) was at no stage advised by Mr Tuttle or anyone else at or for Queensland 

Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley: 

(i) to cease progressing those plans; nor 

(ii) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a 

view to determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(iii) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to or 

otherwise consider that Racing Queensland would not abide the 

terms of the lntercode Agreement from 1 July 2010. 
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Tracey Harris 

30. Company Secretary and Manager, Finance and Administration for QHRL 

between (relevantly) December 2009 and June 2010. In that capacity, among 

other things, she had a working knowledge of the operation of the Product and 

Program and lntercode Agreements and day-to-day issues in relation to Albion 

Park. 

31. She was involved in relevant: 

(a) meetings of or with the QHRL Board and Class A Members (including 

receiving or reading copies relevant correspondence and documents and 

Board Papers); and 

(b) discussions with: 

(i) Ms Perrett of the Office of Racing; and 

(ii) QHRL directors and representatives of QHRL's Class A Members, 

particularly in the period from December 2009 to February 2010. 

32. That she received an email dated 22 December 2009 from Mr Godber. 

33. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, she believed that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland were 

obliged to: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) c~use 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 
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(iii) abide the terms of the Intercede Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 

34. She also understood that if QHRL's Class A or Class 8 Members resolved not to 

support the integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

35. Specifically, she was present when: 

(a) the Class A Members of QHRL resolved not to oppose the integration; and 

(b) the directors of QHRL resolved to support the integration, 

and believed and believes that in doing so the Class A Members and the 

directors were respectively relying upon the Representations. She also believed 

that if the Representations had not been made, the Class A Members would 

have opposed the integration and the directors of QHRL would not have 

resolved to support the integration and would have advised the Minister 

accordingly. 

36. To her knowledge, subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the 

integration, QHRL: 

(a) proceeded with progressing plans for the construction of the new 

grandstand at Albion Park; 

(b) informed Mr Tuttle of Racing Queensland about those plans; and 
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(c) was at no stage advised by Mr Tuttle or anyone else at or for Queensland 

Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley: 

(i) to cease progressing those plans; nor 

(ii) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a 

view to determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(iii) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to or 

otherwise consider that Racing Queensland would not abide the 

terms of the lntercode Agreement from 1 July 2010. 

Watwick Stansfield 

37. Mr Stansfield has (relevantly) been the President of the Second Plaintiff (the 

Albion Park Club) in the period since December 2009. He was (relevantly) 

also a Class A Member Representative for the Albion Park Club and: 

(a) has direct knowledge of discussions between members of the committee 

of the Albion Park Club; and 

(b) was involved in relevant meetings with QHRL directors and other Class A 

Member Representatives, 

in the period from December 2009 to June 2010 (In particular on 4 January 2010 

and 8 February 201 0) regarding the integration. He also knew that the lntercode 

Agreement provided that the harness code received 14.5% of moneys paid 

under the Product and Program Agreement and that that was to continue until 

June 2014. 

38. He saw a press release issued by the Minister for Tourism and Fair Trading on 

20 December 2009. He sent an email dated 23 December 2009 to Mr Lette and 

Mr Seymour in relation to the press release. 

39. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, he knew that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 
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(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a· 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(iii) abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 

40. He also knew that if QHRL's Class A Members resolved not to support the 

integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

41. Specifically, he was present on 8 February 2010 when the Class A Members of 

QHRL resolved not to oppose the integration and that: 

(a) the Class A Member Representatives were relying upon the 

Representations in resolving not to do so; and 

(b) if the Representations had not been made, the Class A Members would 

have resolved unanimously, or at least by a required majority, to oppose 

the integration. 
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42. To his knowledge, subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the 

integration, QHRL: 

(a) proceeded with progre,ssing plans for the construction of the new 

grandstand at Albion Park; 

(b) informed Racing Queensland about those plans; and 

(c) was at no stage advised by anyone at or for Queensland Racing Limited 

or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley: 

(i) to cease progressing those plans; nor 

(ii) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a 

view to determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(iii) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to or 

otherwise consider that Racing Queensland would not abide the 

terms of the lntercode Agreement from 1 July 201 o. 

43. Based in particular on his knowledge of the Albion Park Club's operations prior 

and subsequent to the demolition of the Russ Hinze Stand, that, as a 

consequence of Racing Queensland not proceeding with construction of a new 

grandstand, not committing to Albion Park as the long term home of harness 

racing and/or not abiding the terms of the lntercode Agreement: 

(a) the Albion Park Club: 

(i) has been unable to secure sponsorships that it otherwise would 

have; 

(ii) has otherwise lost operating revenue due to reduced attendances at 

Albion Park; 

(iii) will, If Albion Park ceases to be the home of harness racing, lose all 

of its income generated from conducting harness racing activities at 

Albion Park; 

(b) there has been reduced public Interest in the harness racing code in 

Queensland. 
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Wayne Oossetto 

44. Mr Dossetto has (relevantly) been the Secretary and then Treasurer of the Third 

Plaintiff (the Gold Coast Club) in the period since December 2009. He was 

(relevantly) also a Class A Member Representative for the Gold Coast Club and: 

(a) has direct knowledge of discussions between members of the committee 

of the Gold Coast Club; and 

(b) was involved in relevant meetings with QHRL directors and other Class A 

Member Representatives, 

in the period from December 2009 to June 2010 (in particular on 4 January 2010 

and 8 February 2010) regarding the integration. He also knew that the lntercode 

Agreement provided that the harness code received 14.5% of moneys paid 

under the Product and Program Agreement and that that was to continue until 

June 2014. 

45. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, he knew that: 

(a} Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(H) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(iii) abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 
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46. He also knew that if QHRL's Class A Members resolved not to support the 

integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

47. Specifically, he was present on 8 February 2010 when the Class A Members of 

QHRL resolved not to oppose the integration and that: 

(a) the Class A Member Representatives were relying upon the 

Representations in resolving not to do so; and 

(b) if the Representations had not been made, the Class A Members would 

have resolved unanimously, or at least by a required majority, to oppose 

the integration. 

48. To his knowledge, subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the 

integration, neither QHRL nor the Gold Coast Club was advised by anyone at or 

for Queensland Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley that: 

(a) QHRL should cease progressing plans for a new grandstand at Albion 

Park; nor 

(b) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a view to 

determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(c) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to, or otherwise 

considered that Racing Queensland would not, abide the terms of the 

lntercode Agreement from 1 July 2010. 
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49. As a consequence of Racing Queensland not proceeding with construction of a 

new grandstand, not committing to Albion Park as the long term home of 

harness racing and/or not abiding the terms of the lntercode Agreement there: 

(a) has been and/or will be reduced public interest in the harness racing code 

in Queensland; and 

(b) has been and/or is likely to an unquantifiable, but real consequential loss, 

suffered by the Gold Coast Club. 

Kerry Ebert 

50. Mr Ebert has (relevantly) been the President of the Fourth Plaintiff (the Radcliffe 

Club) in the period since December 2009. He was (relevantly) also a Class A 

Member Representative for the Radcliffe Club and: 

(a) has direct knowledge of discussions between members of the committee 

of the Radcliffe Club; and 

(b) was involved in relevant meetings with QHRL directors and other Class A 

Member Representatives, 

in the period from December 2009 to June 2010 (in particular on 4 January 2010 

and 8 February 201 0) regarding the integration. He also knew that the lntercode 

Agreement provided that the harness code received 14.5% of moneys paid 

under the Product and Program Agreement and that that was to continue until 

June 2014. 

51. He has had a long history of involvement with the harness racing code. 

52. He is aware of the long connection between harness racing and Albion Park and 

the importance of Albion Park to the code and its future and the likely effect on 

harness racing if Albion Park was not to be used as the home track for the code. 

53. He is aware of the structure of the racing industry as it existed historically, 

including its structure prior to the integration that occurred on 1 July 2010. 

54. Based on that involvement, and not being aware of any information or advice to 

the contrary, by early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 

2010, he knew that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

46 046 



23 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(I) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(iii) abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 

55. He also knew that if QHRL's Class A Members resolved not to support the 

Integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 

(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

lntercode Agreement; 

(ii) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

56. Specifically, he was present on 8 February 2010 when the Class A Members of 

QHRL resolved not to oppose the integration and that: 

(a) the Class A Member Representatives were relying upon the 

Representations In resolving not to do so; and 
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(b) if the Representations had not been made, the Class A Members would 

have resolved unanimously, or at least by a required majority, to oppose 

the integration. 

57. To his knowledge, subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the 

integration, neither QHRL nor the Radcliffe Club was advised by anyone at or for 

Queensland Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley that: 

(a) QHRL should cease progressing plans for a new grandstand at Albion 

Park; nor 

(b) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a view to 

determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(c) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to, or otherwise 

considered that Racing Queensland would not, abide the terms of the 

lntercode Agreement from 1 July 2010. 

58. As a consequence of Racing Queensland not proceeding with construction of a 

new grandstand, not committing to Albion Park as the long term home of 

harness racing and/or not abiding the terms of the lntercode Agreement there: 

(a) has been and/or will be reduced public Interest In the harness racing code 

in Queensland; and 

(b) has been and/or is likely to an unquantifiable, but real consequential loss, 

suffered by the Radcliffe Club. 

Bill Dixon 

59. Mr Dixon is the President of the Fifth Plaintiff (BOTRA) since December 2010 

and prior to that was a committee member of that Association in the period from 

December 2009 to February 2010. During that time he was involved in 

discussions with members of BOTRA's committee and in particular with its then 

President, David Lewis. 

60. He has had a long history of involvement with the harness racing code. 

61. He is aware of the long connection between harness racing and Albion Park and 

the importance of Albion Park to the code and its future and the likely effect on 

harness racing if Albion Park was not to be used as the home track for the code. 
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62. He is aware of the structure of the racing industry as it existed historically, 

including its structure prior to the integration that occurred on 1 July 2010. 

63. He knew throughout that time that, under the Intercede Agreement, the harness 

code received 14.5% of moneys paid under the Product and Program 

Agreement and that that was to continue until June 2014. 

64. By early February 2010 and through to (relevantly) at least 30 June 201 0, he 

knew that: 

(a) Mr Bentley had made the Representations; and 

(b) if QHRL agreed to support the integration of the 3 control bodies into a 

single new control body, the Minister for Racing would cause an 

Integration Bill to be prepared; and 

(c) in due course that Bill would be passed and the integration effected such 

that, among other things, Mr Bentley and Racing Queensland would: 

(i) cause Albion Park to be used as the long term home of harness 

racing; 

(ii) cause 16% of the Infrastructure Funding to be used to construct a 

new grandstand at Albion Park; and 

(iii) abide the terms of the lntercode Agreement such that 14.5% of 

funds received from Product Co pursuant to the Product & Program 

Agreement would be used for harness racing purposes. 

65. He also knew that if QHRL's Class A Members resolved not to support the 

integration, QHRL would not support the integration and: 

(a) the Government would proceed with legislation to give effect to the 

agreement of the control bodies for the codes of thoroughbred and 

greyhound racing to be integrated into a new single control body and that 

those codes would receive all of the Infrastructure Funding; and 

(b) QHRL would: 

(i) continue to: 

(A) be the control body for harness racing in Queensland; 
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(B) receive the harness code's 14.5% distribution under the 

Intercede Agreement; 

(II) not receive any part of the Infrastructure Funding. 

66. On 8 February 2010 BOTRA's decision to not oppose the integration was in 

reliance upon the Representations and that, if the Representations had not been 

made, BOTRA would have voted to oppose the integration. 

67. To his knowledge, subsequent to QHRL notifying its agreement to the 

integration, neither QHRL nor BOTRA was advised by anyone at or for 

Queensland Racing Limited or Racing Queensland or Mr Bentley that: 

(a) QHRL should cease progressing plans for a new grandstand at Albion 

Park; nor 

(b) that a consultancy had been planned and/or implemented with a view to 

determining that Albion Park should not be retained; nor 

(c) that Mr Bentley and/or Racing Queensland did not intend to, or otherwise 

considered that Racing Queensland would not, abide the terms of the 

Intercede Agreement from 1 July 2010. 

68. As a consequence of Racing Queensland not proceeding with construction of a 

new grandstand, not committing to Albion Park as the long term home of 

harness racing and/or not abiding the terms of the Intercede Agreement there: 

(a) has been and/or will be reduced public interest in the harness racing code 

in Queensland; and 

(b) has been and/or is likely to an unquantifiable, but real consequential loss, 

suffered by the members of BOTRA. 

Kerry Watson 

69. Ms Watson was, relevantly, the Chair of Greyhounds Queensland Limited from 1 

July 2008 to 30 June 2010. She was a director of Racing Queensland until 

being removed in December 2010 in circumstances relevant to matters in issue 

in this proceeding. 

70. She is presently in dispute with Racing Queensland over that removal. 
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71. She is a reluctant witness and it may be necessary for the Plaintiffs to seek to 

compel her attendance at trial to give evidence by the issue of a subpoena. 

Because of this, the best the Plaintiffs can say at present is that they expect that 

she will give evidence: 

(a) that on or about 18 December 2009 she attended a meeting with the 

Second Defendant, Mr Lette, Mr Kelly and Mr Smith, at which Mr Kelly 

sought on behalf of the Queensland Government, the agreement of the 

three racing codes to an amalgamation of the control bodies in exchange 

for which the Government would make available to the industry a capital 

works fund in the order of $80,000,000; 

(b) that she attended a further meeting on 23 December 2009 at the office of 

Queensland Racing Limited attended by the Second Defendant, Mr Lette, 

Mr Kelly and Ms Carol Perrett (of the Office of Racing), which was chaired 

by the Second Defendant and at which various representations were 

made by the Second Defendant in connection with the proposal for the 

merger of the three codes of racing and the seeking of the agreement of 

Greyhounds Queensland Limited and the First Plaintiff to the merger; 

(c) that she subsequently received minutes of the meeting of 23 December 

2009; 

(d) that on 4 January 2010 she attended a meeting with the Treasurer, the 

Minister, the Second Defendant and Mr Lette at which the Treasurer and 

the Minister again sought the agreement to the merger proposal; 

(e) that she was given a copy of a document tilled "Amalgamation of the three 

Racing Codes into a single organisation" (the Twelve Points Document) 

and she also received a copy of a document titled "Answers to Harness 

Qllestions 5th January 2010" (the Twelve Points Response); 

(f) as to her communications on behalf of Greyhounds Queensland Limited 

with the Second Defendant and others in relation to the proposed 

integration of the three codes of racing; 

{g) as to her communications with representatives of the Office of Racing, 

Queensland Racing Limited and Racing Queensland Limited, and Mr 

Bentley, between mid 2009 and June 2010 (in particular December 2009 

and January 201 0) regarding the integration. 
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